CEREAL CHROMOSOME STRUCTURE, EVOLUTION, AND PAIRING

Graham Moore

John Innes Centre, Colney, Norwich, United Kingdom; e-mail: tracie.foote@bbsrc.ac.uk

Key Words polyploidy, centromeres, telomeres, Ph1 locus, gene order

■ Abstract The determination of the order of genes along cereal chromosomes indicates that the cereals can be described as a single genetic system. Such a framework provides an opportunity to combine data generated from the studies on different cereals, enables chromosome evolution to be traced, and sheds light on key structures involved in cereal chromosome pairing. Centromeric and telomeric regions have been highlighted as important in these processes.

CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION
GENOME ORGANIZATION
Genome Size
Base Composition
Gene Distribution
Dispersed Repetitive Sequences
Long Tandem Arrays
Gene Order
The Maize Genome
Centromeres, Telomeres, and Chromosome Evolution
CHROMOSOME PAIRING 205
In Diploids
In Autotetraploids
In Allopolyploids
The <i>Ph1</i> Locus
Parametrized and the <i>Ph1</i> Leaves 210
Recombination and the $Fn1$ Locus
Pairing Models

INTRODUCTION

More than 50% of angiosperms are polyploids that occur either by multiplication of a basic set of chromosomes (autopolyploidy) or as a result of combining two parental genomes (allopolyploidy). The introduction of alien variation into polyploids during plant breeding clearly would benefit from an understanding of the genome relationships of polyploid crop species and their wild diploid relatives. As a result, the genomic relationships within the Triticeae (wheat and its wild relatives) have been extensively studied (110). By 1952, the work of Kihara and colleagues had established many of the genomic relationships of the diploid and polyploid *Triticum* and *Aegilops* species on the basis of chromosome pairing in hybrids (110). These studies have continued to the present and have accurately classified chromosome translocations (92, 115, 135, 136). Chromosome pairing is assessed by squashing meiocytes at metaphase I and classifying the specific chromosome configurations at this stage. The association of chromosomes implies some conservation of chromosomal structure (including genes) and suggests a high degree of conservation of gene order on the chromosomes of wheat and its wild relatives. Clearly, such studies could not be extended beyond species from which hybrids could be generated and in which chromosomes paired. Thus for much of the past 50 years, major cereals and their wild relatives (maize, wheat, rice, sorghum, and the millets) have been studied largely in isolation. Detection of variation between individuals at the DNA sequence level in the form of restriction fragment length polymorphisms (RFLPs) (97, 107) and the concept of an RFLP linkage map (158) enabled these comparisons to be extended and the actual structure of the *Triticeae* chromosomes to be assessed in more detail. The analysis of these comparisons revealed a framework by which all data generated on the cereals can be collated (127, 130, 132). The cereal genomes can be described by a series of conserved units based on the linkage of genes found within their genomes (130). The structure of the rice genome is pivotal to the analysis of other cereal genomes (131, 132).

GENOME ORGANIZATION

Genome Size

Although mammals possess different chromosomes, their genome sizes are similar. In contrast, cereals have different chromosome numbers and vary greatly in genome size (21). It was the size of barley, wheat, and rye genomes that initially restricted their molecular analysis. The genomes of barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) and hexaploid bread wheat (*Triticum aestivum*) are relatively large (5×10^9 bp and 1.7×10^{10} bp per haploid nucleus, respectively). Maize (*Zea mays*) is intermediate in size 2.4×10^9 bp, and sorghum (*Sorghum bicolor*) is 8×10^8 bp (21). In contrast, other cereals and wild grass genomes are relatively small; for example, those of rice (*Oryza sativa*) and slender false-brome (*Brachypodium sylvaticum*) are 4×10^8 bp and 5×10^8 bp in size, respectively (21). Clearly, major changes have occurred in genome size since their speciation from a common ancestor. Most of this additional DNA consists of repetitive sequences that evolve rapidly and hence diverge substantially with speciation (65, 66).

Base Composition

Nuclear DNA can be heavily methylated at cytosine residues. The base composition of genomic regions can therefore influence the distribution of methylation within them. Large mammalian genomes have a CpG content of 1%. This is lower than the 4% expected for a genome that is 40% G + C rich. Thus there is a marked underrepresentation of the CpG content in these genomes (26, 71, 148, 163). However, there are small regions, several hundred bases long, that have a CpG/GpC dinucleotide ratio of approximately one. Such regions (termed CpG islands) coincide with the promoters of genes (29). They are also marked by clusters of unmethylated CpG dinucleotides, which therefore contain recognition sequences for methylation-sensitive restriction enzymes. In mammalian genomes, methylation is largely confined to the sequence m5CpG. In mammalian DNA, 70% to 80% of CpG dinucleotides are methylated. More than 80% of CpG dinucleotides are also methylated in wheat. In plants, 5-methylcytosine is not confined to CpG dinucleotides but is also present in more than 80% of the trinucleotides CpXpGs (83). Therefore, in the nuclear DNA of wheat (and other higher plants), a higher proportion of the cytosine residues is methylated: 30% compared with 1% to 8% in vertebrates. A single study has assessed the dinucleotide composition of a cereal nuclear genome, namely *Triticum aestivum* (bread wheat) (163). The G + Ccontent of its genome is 45%. In contrast to mammalian genomes, the genome of wheat exhibits only a slight reduction in CpG content (83, 148). Therefore, the observed/expected ratio of CpG content is 0.77 for bulk wheat genomic DNA compared with 0.2 for human genomic DNA, whereas the CpG/GpC ratio for wheat is 0.78 and for human DNA is 0.23. Because there is little suppression of the CpG dinucleotide in the wheat genome, both repetitive and single-copy sequences would be expected to exhibit similar CpG contents. However, sequence analysis of 60 Kb of the barley genome indicates that the promoter regions of the genes, as with mammalian genes, were marked by a CpG/GpC ratio of more than one (141).

Gene Distribution

Long-range mapping within a 4-Mb length of the wheat genome indicated five clusters of unmethylated CG-rich recognition sites for methylation-sensitive restriction enzymes defining active genes (36). The distribution of unmethylated sites between repetitive sequences and single-copy sequences is therefore not random (128). Also the distribution of unmethylated restriction sites along the chromosomes of the *Triticeae* is evidence of a reduced density in the proximal regions and a higher percentage in the distal regions (128). This implies that the gene distribution along a cereal chromosome is also not random, with a higher density of genes concentrated in the distal regions. Extensive physical mapping of genes with deletion stocks has been undertaken on wheat chromosomes by Gill and colleagues (62, 74). The data indicate that on all the wheat chromosomes, very few genes are located in the proximal third of the chromosome arm. They also reported that the genes located in the distal regions occur in clusters.



Figure 1 Schematic representation of metaphase chromosomes corresponding to rice chromosome 1 and a chromosome from wheat group 3. These chromosomes exhibit a similar gene content and extensive conservation in gene order. The rice chromosome has a more even distribution of clusters of gene-rich regions. The gene density in these gene-rich regions on the rice chromosome will be higher than in gene-rich regions in wheat. The proximal regions of wheat chromosomes are composed largely of repetitive blocks, with the distal regions composed of both clusters of gene-rich regions and repetitive blocks.

Although the sequence analysis of the 60-Kb region of the barley genome indicated a fivefold lower gene density than in *Arabidopsis*, the density was still six- to tenfold higher than expected from an equidistant gene distribution in the complex barley genome (141). This is consistent with the observations of Gill and colleagues. A schematic representation of the organization of a wheat chromosome compared to a rice chromosome is shown in Figure 1. If few genes are located in the proximal third of the chromosome arm, what is the nature of these regions? Analysis of repetitive sequence distribution indicated that they could be composed of blocks of amplified repetitive units that on restriction digestion reduce to discrete fragments of 200 Kb and upwards (24, 128). The rice genome, however, does not possess such large blocks of repetitive sequences. The proximal regions composed of large blocks of amplified repetitive sequences not only have reduced gene densities but exhibit a reduced level of recombination. Therefore, no direct correlation exists between physical and genetic distances in species such as wheat and barley (111, 157).

Dispersed Repetitive Sequences

The majority of the large genomes of cereals consist of dispersed repeats (65, 66). The most abundant elements are the retrotransposons (177). Retrotransposons can be divided into two classes, those flanked by long terminal repeats (LTRs) and those without LTRs, which terminate with poly (A) sequences. The non-LTR retrotransposons are also called LINES elements and possess an ORF that codes for proteins with homology to reverse transcriptase. The first such elements to be identified in plants were the cin4 from maize (153). LINES elements can be found in great abundance, for example, *del2* identified in lily (108). Recent studies have suggested that they are ubiquitous in plant genomes (137). LTR retrotransposons have been classified according to Drosophila-type elements as either gypsy-like or copia-like, based on the order of the coding proteins between the LTRs. Gypsy elements, like retroviruses, possess LTR-gag-proteinase-rt-in-LTR and copia elements are characterized by a LTR-gag-proteinase-in-rt-LTR arrangement. Gypsy and copia elements are also ubiquitous in cereal genomes and can be found in great abundance (67, 162). BIS-1 constitutes in excess of 5% of the barley genome and probably a similar proportion of the genomes of wheat and rye (129). BARE1 is not only highly abundant in barley genome (160), it is also active (161). Retrotransposons constitute at least 50% of the maize genome (150). They are found in the spaces between genes (151, 159). Retrotransposons have increased the size of the maize genome two- to fivefold since the divergence of maize and sorghum from a common ancestor about 16 mya (150). Comparison of the *sh1–a1* regions in the genomes of maize and sorghum indicated that the retrotransposons were absent from the corresponding region in the sorghum genome (35). The gene density of the gene-rich regions in small genomes, such as rice, will be higher than in larger genomes, such as wheat (68). Virtually all of the retrotransposons had inserted in the past 6 million years and most in the past 3 million years in the maize genome (150). Sequencing of the Arabidopsis genome reveals little intergenic interspersion of retrotransposons; most are associated with the pericentromeric regions (121). The implication for the evolution of the cereal genome is that the common ancestral genome probably possessed few retrotransposons interspersed among their genes but that the retrotransposons were located in the pericentromeric regions. Genome expansion results from the accumulation of retrotransposons in such regions. Note, however, that not only can genomes expand, they can also contract, although it is unclear how this is achieved (23).

Other transposable elements, such as Ac in maize, possess inverted terminal repeats and transpose by excision and reintegration. They are present in only tens to hundreds of copies per genome and therefore do not make a major contribution to the total DNA content of the genome. They have, however, received special attention due to their value in gene tagging (15). No active endogenous elements have yet been found from the *Triticeae* genomes. Another type of mobile inverted repeat element has been recently identified, MITE, that is associated with the genes of many cereals (30, 31).

Long Tandem Arrays

Long tandem arrays of essentially identical sequences are found in the subtelomeric (142, 171) and pericentromeric heterochromatin regions (91) and the array of ribosomal RNA genes within the nucleolus organizer regions (73). There is a close correlation between the site of C and N bands and the presence of long tandem arrays of short, repeating sequences in chromosomal DNA (66). In rye, the subtelomeric heterochromatin constitutes from 15% to 18% of the genome, 60% of which comprises four repetitive sequences (18). These can be organized in a head-to-head arrangement or in head-to-tail organization (170). Birchler and colleagues demonstrated that sequences in maize knob regions possess strong homology to a repeat family specific to the centric region of maize B chromosomes (4). Under certain conditions, these knobs can be activated to function as "neocentromeres" that form kinetochores during meiosis. The presence of several classes of tandem and nontandem repeats has been identified in the centromere regions. Two classes (CCS1 and pSau3A9) of conserved sequences are located at all cereal centromeric sites studied (maize, wheat, rice, oats, sorghum, barley, and rye) (8,95). Recent studies indicate that both sequences are part of the same DNA element; CCS1 is the LTR region and pSau3A9 is the integrase region of a retrotransposon (5, 51, 124, 138, 144). The insertion of these retrotransposons into the satellite sequences present at the centromere regions creates a unique pattern and hence specificity to this region (5). Retrotransposons have also inserted into the satellite sequences present in the knob regions (6). Given the rapid evolution of tandem arrays, it is likely that retrotransposons inserting into such sequences are steadily being deleted. These families of retrotransposons must be continually active in order to provide further elements for reinsertion.

Telomeres are the termini of chromosomes and in most species are made up of a short tandem array of similar DNA repeat sequences (182). In plants, they are mostly composed of many tandemly repeated copies of basic oligonucleotides of the sequence (TTTAGGG)n characterized by the G-rich strand running in the 5' to 3' direction toward the end of the chromosome and the C-rich strand running toward the centromere (37, 154, 176). The conservation of the basic sequence has been used as a basis for cloning the repeat families adjacent to the telomeres in rice, barley, and wheat (11, 37, 99, 101, 147). The repetitive families identified from these studies have been used to develop RFLP markers with which to mark the ends of the linkage maps. Many of these repetitive families adjacent to the telomere termini are specific to these regions. Shorter tandem arrays also occur throughout the cereal genomes composed of reiterating units of tens of basepairs (minisatellites) or even shorter simpler repeats of several basepairs (microsatellites) (174). Markers derived from these loci are highly polymorphic and prove useful for genetic mapping and fingerprinting varieties (120). Particular classes of microsatellite markers are associated with LTRs of retrotransposons (145).

Gene Order

The advent of RFLP markers in the early 1980s resulted in the development of RFLP linkage maps for many of the major cereals, including wheat (48, 69), rice (34, 104), barley (82, 103), sorghum (38), and maize (32, 33). By the mid-1990s, these genetic maps were relatively dense and were generated with markers that detected genic regions. Thus, they began to provide an indication of the gene order along particular chromosomes. The genetic map of hexaploid wheat that emerged was a comparative map of its three constituent ancestral genomes (A, B, and D genomes) (48, 69). Many markers map colinearily across these genomes and are separated by similar recombination distances. The comparative analysis revealed that the progenitor genomes had undergone some rearrangements, particularly chromosomes 4A, 5A, and 7B. In the diploid A genome progenitor, translocations involving 5AL and 4AL occurred. On polyploidization, a translocation involving 4AL and 7BS occurred, followed by an inversion of 4AL (106, 112). This was consistent with the predicted translocations proposed from analyzing chromosome pairing (136).

The availability of such genetic maps for the cereals permitted genome comparisons made over the past 70 years to be extended beyond species in which chromosome pairing studies could be undertaken. Chromosome pairing studies for mammals were inappropriate, so studies on their comparative genomics began later with the advent of somatic cell hybrids. The field of comparative mapping has spawned terms such as linkage or synteny, conserved linkage, conserved synteny, homology segment, colinearity, and microsynteny. Scientists studying plants or mammals have used these terms in different contexts. The basic observation is that groups of genes located together in the ancestral genome are still located together in the genomes of species that arise from speciation of this ancestor. Clearly, during evolution, rearrangements can occur that disrupt the order of genes along a chromosome but maintain their linkage, or disrupt the order so that the genes are no longer even linked. The important issue is how much disruption has occurred: Can linkage of genes still be observed between distantly related species and can this be exploited? If the gene order observed in the small genome of rice was sufficiently conserved with that in larger cereal genomes, the rice genome would provide a tool for gene isolation strategies in the other cereals. The rice genome would be, in effect, "the wheat genome without the repetitive sequences." Moreover, comparisons of genome organization across the different cereal genomes and the solution for these comparisons would mean that the cereals could be thought of as a single genetic system (22, 132).

The initial comparisons using RFLP maps involved wheat, barley, and rye (47, 49), and maize and sorghum (122, 143, 178). Although there had been some

major translocations in rye after its speciation from the progenitors of hexaploid wheat and barley, the gene order is essentially similar in these species. The comparison of related species, maize, and sorghum, which have speciated within the past 16 to 20 million years, also revealed a degree of conservation of gene order. Even comparisons of species that have been isolated by more than 60 million years (180), such as rice and wheat and rice and maize, indicated that genes have been maintained in a similar order despite gross differences in the genome size and chromosome number of these species (2, 3, 105). From these initial comparisons of gene order in the rice, maize, and wheat genomes, genes on the rice genetic map could be grouped into sets and the genetic maps of wheat and maize could be described by the same sets of genes (rice linkage segments) (131). Furthermore, this analysis could also be extended to include the sorghum, foxtail millet, and sugarcane genomes (127, 130). Thus, a series of sets of genes could be used to describe most of the major cereal genomes as shown in Figure 2 (see color plate). The collation of all the information generated from studies on the different cereals requires a common framework. A limited number of combinations of linkage segments were noted in the genomes of the various cereals studied. It was therefore possible to create a generalized genome structure using the rice linkage segments that, when cleaved in the case of each cereal at a different number of junctions between the linkage segments, produced structures that describe the gross chromosome structures found in the two sets of maize chromosomes, the wheat and barley chromosomes and the sorghum and millet chromosomes (70, 127, 130). The breakage and fusion of rice linkage segments to create the different cereal chromosomes are reminiscent of the chromosome evolution of the holocentric chromosomes, which are the closest relatives of the cereals (116, 139). The rushes and sedges possess holocentric/polycentric chromosomes with many sites along their chromosome length for microtubule attachment. Such chromosomes naturally fragment to create smaller viable chromosomes. In hybrids between parental lines carrying the original larger chromosomes and these small, fragmented chromosomes, the large and small chromosomes align during meiosis, which suggests that these species are very adept at rearranging their chromosomes.

A large number of more detailed comparative mapping studies have now been undertaken (50, 56–59, 84, 125, 134, 149, 166–168, 179, 183). In essence, these studies confirm the basic framework outlined previously (127, 130). The gene order of chromosome regions covering several megabases have also been compared and indicate a high level of conservation (25, 60, 68, 85, 100, 102). However, it is also apparent that genes can be "transposed" to other regions, that they have become duplicated or deleted, or that they have diverged significantly. The comparative analysis based on linkage segments provides a framework for gene order; however, there are imperfections in this framework. The more detailed analyses indicated that in maize, for example, there have been inversions of regions and some of the linkage segments can be subdivided further. Analysis of these translocations and other gross rearrangements will be helpful in further classifying the relationships between the cereals (98).



somes dissected into linkage blocks (R1a, R1b, etc); 10 (M1–M10) maize; 7 (W1–W7) wheat, based on the linkage map of the D genome; 9 (I–IX) foxtail millet; 10 (SI–S10) sorghum; and 8 (1–8) basic sugarcane chromosomes represented as linkage segments on the basis of the conservation of gene order. Connecting lines indicate duplicate segments within the maize chromosomes. The designation of the sorghum and sugarcane linkage groups has varied between laboratories and publications.

The Maize Genome

Maize and sorghum are members of the Andropogoneae tribe consisting of over 900 species. Of more than 500 species analyzed from this tribe, 90% of the species possess a chromosome number that is a multiple of five. A basic number of nine occurs sporadically throughout the tribe. Consistent with this, the ten chromosomes of maize could be divided into two sets of five chromosomes, based on the linkage segment analysis (86, 131) (Figure 2, see color plate). The two sets of five chromosomes possess a different arrangement of the linkage segments. The maize chromosomes are divided into a set of the largest and a set of the smallest chromosomes. Moreover, the chromosome arms of one set are all larger than the corresponding homoeologous arms in the other set (Figure 3, see color plate). The two ancestral genomes of maize diverged some 20 mya, and one of the genomes is more closely related to sorghum, which diverged some 16 mya (72). The allotetraploidization took place some 11 million years ago (72). If the structure of the ancestral progenitor genomes of maize were similar to other small genomes (Arabidopsis and rice) studied to date, most of the repetitive sequences would be localized in the pericentromeric regions with the genic regions containing few repetitive elements. Bennetzen and colleagues have indicated that most of the major expansion of maize genome has taken place in the past 3 million years and has been intergenic (150). Since tetraploidization, it is unlikely that there has been preferential expansion of one of the sets of chromosomes. Thus, one set of chromosomes must have already possessed larger chromosomes than the other set.

The segmental relationship of the two chromosome sets of maize in which homoeology relationships are confined to chromosome arms generates a "circular organizational relationship" based around the centromeres (Figure 3). Such an arrangement is distinctive but not unique to plants. It bears a striking similarity to the chromosome relationships of translocation heterozygotes observed in diploid Oenothera and Rhoeo species (44). Their homologous chromosomes can be ordered into two sets, one structured as $A \circ B$, $C \circ D$, $E \circ F$ (\circ being the centromere) and the other set as FoA, BoC, DoE. At meiosis the homologous chromosomes will pair as a ring or a chain. Some *Oenothera* species possess two sets of, for example, $A \circ B$, $C \circ D$, $E \circ F$ chromosomes and will pair as homologous chromosome pairs (bivalents). F1 progeny of two such ring-pairing species can occur and can undergo spontaneous amphidiploidy (45). Some 60 years ago, prior to any knowledge of its genome structure, cytogenetists considered the possibility of maize being a translocation heterozygote (28). Thus maize could be the amphidiploid of a F1 hybrid between two related ring-pairing (translocation heterozygotes) species. Our knowledge of the structure of the maize genome does not rule out this possibility. This event would have diploidized the two differently structured haploid genomes that were originally capable of recombining. McClintock and others reported nonhomologous chromosome pairing in maize (75, 76, 119). From our knowledge of the structure of the two sets of five chromosomes, this nonhomologous pairing can be reinterpreted as pairing between homoeologous segments derived from the two



erozygote." Chromosomes 4, 1, 6, 3, 2 are derived from one parental set and the rest from the other.

ancestral genomes. It is also consistent with the observations that there has been shuffling of genes between the homoeologous segments (72). Gaut & Doebley also observed from the sequence divergence of pairs of genes mapping on homoeologous segments that the genes fell into two classes, which is consistent with the hypothesis that they were derived originally from two diverged genomes (72). Translocation heterozygotes have been observed to have an unusual behavior of their centromeric heterochromatin regions during prophase. During early meiotic prophase in most species, the telomeric heterochromatin aggregates together into a bouquet that results in the intimate alignment (synapsis) of chromosomes. In translocation heterozygotes, the centromere heterochromatin also fuses as a single site or chromocenter during meiotic prophase (39). The aggregation of centromeres of paired bivalents and some knobs (neocentromeres) has also been observed in maize at meiotic prophase (75).

There has been some discussion as to whether there is homoeology between maize chromosome 3, maize chromosome 10, and rice chromosome 12, as some groups have failed to cross-map any markers between these regions in particular segregating populations (179). However, researchers using different segregating populations have identified markers mapping to both the centromere regions of maize 3 and maize 10 (57). This group of markers (including *UMC18*) mapping on both chromosomes is also located on rice chromosome 12. It is not the relationship of maize 3 and maize 10 that is unclear, but whether there is a duplicate region for maize 4S, which has homoeology with rice chromosome 11. This maize chromosome arm carries a large number of resistance genes and storage proteins. Disease-resistance genes are subject to rapid evolution. As a class of genes they tend not to reflect conservation in gene order (109). Many of these genes probably have diverged significantly from those of other species and probably from the duplicate region in maize. However, there are eight RFLP loci from maize 4S duplicated on 7S, which may indicate an ancient relationship (86) (Figure 3).

Centromeres, Telomeres, and Chromosome Evolution

Comparison of the location of the junctions of the linkage segments in the different cereal genomes, in particular rice (156), indicates that the borders fall in centromere and telomere regions (133). The region in one species is a centromere site and in another species a telomere site. Moreover, telomeric heterochromatin in maize, rye, wheat, and Bromus can, under certain conditions, function as neocentromeres (reviewed in 133). Centromere/telomere sites have been the major focus of rearrangements, probably indicating why the markers flanking these regions exhibit a loss of gene order. The structure of the maize genome indicates the importance of centromeres and telomeric regions in the evolution of its genomes (Figure 3). Because the centromeric sites have been subject to breakage and fusion events, the comparative relationship of specific centromere and telomere sites across species remains unclear. Among the cereals, the locations of centromere and telomere sites have been conserved at the gross level. Thus the potential location of these

structures is not random but rather is limited to a number of sites. In mammals, in contrast, the locations of centromere sites have not been found to be conserved across species (126).

The rice genome has been a useful tool for determining the structural relationships of the cereal genomes. One explanation is that its structure is similar to that of the ancestral progenitor genome. An alternative explanation is that it is the diploid with the highest basic number of chromosomes that has been analyzed. The rice genome reveals more potential (centromere and telomere) sites involved in breakage and fusion events of chromosomes than other species. However, still unclear is how and why certain sites in the cereal genomes are activated as centromere sites in some species and not in other closely related genomes and how this activity is modified. This issue is important in the debate about whether sorghum with its 10 chromosomes is an ancient tetraploid (38). In situ hybridization shows that five of the sorghum centromeres are distinct from the other five sites. It has been argued that this observation supports the ancient tetraploid concept (81). However, comparative mapping with rice indicates that the gene order in the sorghum genome is similar to that of rice (57). There is no clear duplication of the sorghum genome with respect to the rice genome. Sorghum chromosomes are metacentric but share homoeology with whole or parts of chromosome arms of maize (57). Thus, active centromeric sites do not map comparatively between sorghum and the two maize chromosome sets. The lack of knowledge on how sites are activated or suppressed during chromosome evolution makes it difficult to interpret the different sorghum centromere structures.

CHROMOSOME PAIRING

Chromosome pairing is the process by which homologous chromosomes (termed homologues) start in a premeiotic somatic nucleus randomly organized with respect to each other but end up during the pachytene stage of meiotic prophase in close association. Homologue pairing is important for the correct segregation of the chromosomes to gametes. The process of bringing homologues together involves their reciprocal recognition, coalignment, and synapsis. The term chromosome pairing has often been applied to one or more of these individual stages. An S phase occurs between premeiotic interphase and meiotic prophase in which the chromosomes are replicated, generating two sister chromatids. To that effect the intimate association of the homologues, which are composed of sister chromatids, is facilitated by a protein structure, the synaptonemal complex (177a). A protein structure, the lateral element, is formed by the two sister chromatids of each homologue. The lateral elements of each homologue are then aligned and associated by a third protein structure forming between them.

Chromosome-pairing studies provided early indications as to the genome relationships between polyploid species and diploid relatives. In essence, these were the first comparative genomic studies. Conversely, have the recent comparative genomic studies contributed to our understanding of the chromosome-pairing process? As described, these studies reveal that two chromosome structures have been important in cereal evolution, the telomeres and the centromeres. Both chromosome structures in plants such as wheat, rye and barley are located on the nuclear membrane. In interphase cells the centromeres are at one pole of the nucleus and the two chromosome arms extend to the other pole where the telomeres are dispersed over the membrane (1, 9, 10). This chromosome organization has been described as a "Rabl" configuration (144a).

In Diploids

Early studies indicated an important role for telomeres/subtelomeric regions during the pairing process. Subtelomeric heterochromatin knobs are clearly visible in interphase nuclei in rye (27, 164). Light microscopy revealed that early during meiotic prophase, the telomere regions of diploid species form a single cluster or bouquet. Meiocytes visualized in premeiotic interphase exhibited no association of telomeric regions. This is consistent with the observations made on *Lilium longi*florum. This species' chromosomes undergo a preleptotene contraction and become visible. There was no clear association of chromosomes at this stage, which suggests that there is no premeiotic alignment in this diploid species (172, 173). The intimate alignment of rye chromosomes during meiotic prophase was assessed by spreading and squashing meiocytes at the zygotene stage to reveal their synaptonemal complex structures (77). The initiation of synapsis occurred after the bouquet had formed. The telomere regions are among the first sites to undergo synapsis. However, many other sites along the chromosome are also involved in synapsis of the bivalents (pair of homologues). The intimate alignment process could not be explained simply by zipping up of these initiation sites from the telomeres (77). The sizes of heterochromatin knobs in rye can vary greatly. Synapsis between such homologous chromosomes differing in heterochromatin knob size is largely unaffected in rye (80). One lateral element was slightly longer than the other, which resulted in an unpaired telomeric end. However, there was only slight reduction in the level of recombination. Importantly, the length of the lateral elements did not correlate directly with the difference in size of the chromosomes. This is more marked in hybrids between two Lolium (diploid) species, which differ by 50% in their chromosome size (94). These different-sized chromosomes (homoeologues) intimately associate, which results in the alignment of lateral elements of similar size. The synapsed structures resemble perfectly paired bivalents. There is no indication of a substantial correction to the lateral element length during the process of synapsis. Thus the chromosomes, which are substantially different in size, produce only lateral elements of a length similar to the chromosome with which it will become associated. The implication is that the pair of chromosomes that are going to be synapsed as a bivalent are already associated at more than one site prior to synapsis. If the searching process for chromosomes took place after lateral elements had been formed, synapsed chromosomes with different lengths of lateral elements would be observed. Two chromosome structures, telomeres and centromeres, both located on the nuclear membrane, could be involved in the initial chromosome searching process. The clustering of the telomeres to form a bouquet brings the telomeres together. Data presented by Martinez-Perez at the recent 9th Botanical Congress indicates that in diploid *Triticum* and *Aegilops* species the centromeres also associate in pairs at this stage (118). Other sites along the chromosome arms would also have to be involved. It is unclear how these sites search and recognize each other without an elaborate system of motors and pulleys moving the chromosome sites around the nucleus. An attractive hypothesis proposed by Cook is that these sites are genes that are being associated at transcriptional sites (40). Homologous genes would be transcribed by being looped out to the same transcription factory, thereby enabling association to occur. Thus, chromosomes of different sizes but possessing similar gene orders would associate through their telomeres and centromeres on the nuclear membrane and the genic regions in the transcriptional factories.

In Autotetraploids

Synaptonemal complex spreading studies have also been undertaken on autotetraploids of *Triticum monococcum* (the A genome donor of hexaploid wheat) and autotetraploids of rye (Secale cereale) (79, 152). These plants contain seven basic chromosomes with four homologous chromosomes for each chromosome group (i.e. 28 chromosomes in all). The spreading data indicated that the chromosomes could synapse as seven cross-like structures. Thus, although the telomere regions had the potential to associate with three other homologous regions, they only formed pair-wise associations. This was the case for all the regions along the chromosome arm except for one site halfway along the chromosome. Most sites on the *Triticeae* chromosomes can only synapse in pairs, and these associations are with the same chromosome. Only a single site on the chromosome engages in multiple interactions. Martinez-Perez also observed that centromeres associate premeiotically in autotetraploids of the *Triticeae* species, reducing to approximately seven sites during meiotic prophase (118). The implication is that the centromeres of four homologous chromosomes associate, forming cross-like structures of synapsed chromosomes.

In Allopolyploids

Synaptonemal complex spreading studies on allotetraploids and allohexaploids (species possessing two or three sets of related but not identical genomes) including allotetraploid *Aegilops* species sharing D genomes (42), *Aegilops* species sharing U genomes (41), allotetraploid oats, and allohexaploid oats (96) all show that the vast majority of chromosomes are synapsed as bivalents. Multivalent structures are occasionally observed at low frequency. A study on hexaploid wheat also reported predominantly bivalent formation (165). The regions adjacent to the telomeres were among the first to synapse. However, other sites were also involved in initiating synapsis, producing bivalent structures resembling beads on a necklace. Thus, although chromosomes have the potential to associate with three other chromosomes (two homoeologues and an homologue), they associate with their homologue to form a bivalent structure. In this case, centromere regions are associated as pairs at meiotic prophase in hexaploid wheat (118). Thus the homoeologous and homologous centromere regions are distinguished in the allotetraploid and allohexaploid situations and resolve as pairs.

Bennett and colleagues showed that the length of meiotic prophase is shorter in polyploids compared to their diploid progenitors, which is the opposite from what would be expected (20). The more genomes or chromosomes are present, the shorter the meiotic prophase, and hence the time required to sort them. The implication is that the chromosome-sorting process in autotetraploids and allotetraploids has been extended outside meiotic prophase. In that regard, it is now apparent that centromeres associated in pairs in floral tissues of all the *Triticeae* allopolyploids studied including hexaploid wheat (118). Thus centromere association is occurring prior to telomere association in these species (9, 10, 117). However, the diploid progenitors do not associate their centromeres until meiotic prophase (118). Thus, polyploidization results in the early association of centromeres. This is consistent with the early studies by researchers who, when treating hexaploid wheat anthers with colchicine prior to their meiocytes being in meiotic prophase, observed an effect on chromosome pairing at metaphase I (17, 52-54, 169). The observation that centromeres are associated in pairs during floral development in hexaploid wheat and wild polyploid relatives but not in their diploid progenitors suggests that the chromosome-sorting process was initially taking place at the centromeres in polyploids. Pairs of homologous chromosomes were fluorescently labeled in hexaploid wheat and their behavior followed from early floral (anther development) through to meiotic prophase (118). These studies were undertaken using anther sections and confocal microscopy so that intact cells could be analyzed (7). The sections enabled the cells to be clearly classified. The study showed that early in anther development prior to the meiocytes being clearly recognizable from tapetal cells, some seven days prior to meiotic prophase, the centromeres in the developing anther associate in pairs (8, 10, 118). By five days prior to meiotic prophase, these associations are becoming homologous associations. Thus, the homologous chromosomes at this stage form a V-configuration. By three days prior to meiotic prophase, the stage at which meiocytes are in premeiotic interphase, 90% of the homologous chromosomes being visualized were associated via their centromeres (10). During premeiotic interphase, the homologous chromosomes colocalize along their length. However, the telomeres of the homologues do not associate as pairs (118). The meiocytes progress through S phase. The telomeres cluster to form a bouquet. The homologous chromosomes separate along their length and are associated by the centromeres and telomeres. The homologous chromosomes are visualized as sister chromatids at this stage (118). The sister chromatids then associate and the homologous chromosomes associate simultaneously. The homologous chromosomes are intimately aligned and then the telomere bouquet declusters (118). A schematic representation of the chromosome pairing process in polyploid and diploid *Triticeae* is shown in Figure 4 (see color plate).

Hexaploid and tetraploid wheats (69, 90) and rice have not suffered major rearrangements following polyploidization. The maize genome, on the other hand, evolved through breakage and fusion events of centromeres and telomeres, followed by tetraploidization and then by further rearrangements (Figure 3). It is not yet known whether maize centromeres associate premeiotically, as happens in hexaploid wheat and polyploid *Aegilops* species. However, visualizing the maize heterochromatin knobs, Cande and colleagues showed no premeiotic association of these sites (46). This implies that maize chromosomes do not align along their length during premeiotic interphase. During the leptotene and zygotene transition of meiotic prophase, maize telomeres cluster to form a bouquet, and then the heterochromatin knobs associate (16, 46). The homologues intimately associate along their length with the telomeres still clustered (75, 76). If centromeres in maize associate premeiotically, chromosome behavior in maize and the timing of the telomere bouquet would resemble that described for hexaploid wheat lines lacking the *Ph1* locus.

The Ph1 Locus

The requirement for breeding purposes to introgress chromosome segments carrying beneficial traits from wild relatives into polyploids such as wheat encouraged researchers to study the genomic relationships of wheat (Triticum) and its wild relatives (Aegilops) through chromosome pairing. F1 hybrids between diploid progenitors of hexaploid wheat or wild relatives are capable of pairing and recombining (14, 181). However, polyploidization and the subsequent premeiotic association of centromeres promotes homologous pairing and thereby reduces the ability to introgress chromosome segments from wild species. Both Riley and Okamoto observed that by deleting both 5B chromosomes, a level of homoeologous pairing could be induced (140, 146). Sears identified a deletion (phlb) of the 5B chromosome that also produced the same effect (155). A deletion of the same region of 5B causes a similar effect in tetraploid wheat. Researchers termed the deleted locus *Ph1*. Sears noted that the fertility of the line was around 30% of that of the wild-type wheat (155). This implied that the majority of pairing configurations observed at metaphase I in this line resulted in infertility, possibly through gamete abortion. A number of studies have been undertaken to characterize the effect of the Ph1 locus. Analysis of anther sections during floral development revealed that, in common with hexaploid wheat (and its polyploid relatives), centromeres associated during floral development in the absence of the Ph1 locus (118). However, the centromere structure is affected when the Ph1 locus is deleted (9). The nature of the premeiotic centromere associations has been determined. In similarly staged sections, when 90% of the homologues were associated via their centromeres in the presence of the *Ph1* locus, only 30% of the homologues were in the absence of the locus (10). This is also the level of fertility of the ph1b line (155). Analysis of the wild



MOORE C-3

relatives of wheat reveals that none of the chromosomes tested carry loci that can compensate for the loss of the 5B chromosome in hexaploid wheat (14). In the absence of the *Ph1* locus in wheat, centromeres still associate premeiotically as they do in polyploid *Aegilops* relatives (117, 118). The *Ph1* locus on chromosome 5B raises the fertility of wheat. It is quite possible therefore that the current 5B allele was not present in the original hybridization but was a mutation that arose and was then selected because it conferred increased fertility.

The timing of formation of the telomeric bouquet in the *ph1b* line is also delayed in meiotic prophase, thereby lengthening the whole stage (19, 118). The level of association between homologues via the centromeres observed during premeiotic interphase may increase further during meiotic prophase until the telomeric bouquet is formed. The change in timing of the telomeric bouquet will change the timing of synapsis, which ultimately could affect the recombination between chromosomes in the presence and absence of the Ph1 locus. The Ph1 locus appears to indirectly affect synapsis (78). Gillies noted that it was difficult to prepare synaptonemal complex spreads from wheat carrying the *Ph1* locus (78). Most preparations revealed short fragments of associated lateral elements. This is consistent with the observation that sister chromatids and homologues are associating at the same time, implying that lateral element formation is not complete before the central element formation occurs. In wheat hybrids in which only homoeologous chromosome pairing could occur, the chromosomes were correctly synapsed in the presence or absence of the Ph1 locus (78). The homoeologous chromosomes differ in size, yet synapse via lateral elements of similar length. This implies that the chromosomes are associated prior to synapsis, which is consistent with the occurrence of centromeres in pairs and telomeres in the bouquet. Analysis of pairing in autotetraploids described above indicates that centromeres can be involved in multivalent formation (118). The observation that centromeres are in pairs in the *Ph1* mutant is consistent with a low level of chromosomes present as multivalents at metaphase I. In the *ph1b* line, only four chromosomes per nucleus on average are engaged in higher-order associations; the rest are bivalents or univalents.

Recombination and the Ph1 Locus

Deleting one of the telomere regions of the pair of homologous chromosomes results in the failure of the pair of homologous chromosomes to recombine in hexaploid wheat and therefore to be found associated at metaphase I (43, 113). Deleting the telomere regions of both chromosomes to the same extent does not reduce recombination between homologues in hexaploid wheat (113) nor does the possession of nonhomologous centromeres, provided the telomere/subtelomeric regions exhibited homology (43). The *Ph1* locus affects recombination (55, 61, 78, 114). In wheat hybrids in which homoeologous chromosomes had synapsed in the presence of the *Ph1* locus, the chromosomes failed to recombine (78). Even homoeologous interstitial segments within a homologous chromosome fail to recombine despite the occurrence of recombination within the homologous segments (113).

However, in the absence of Ph1 locus, homoeologous chromosomes and interstitial homoeologous segments within homologous chromosomes recombine. This implies that either the Ph1 locus is a complex containing genes that affect the premeiotic alignment through centromere association and other genes affecting recombination, or that the high level of association of homologues during floral development leads to an early association of telomeres and synapsis. The expression levels of genes preventing homoeologous recombination may be comparable in similar staged floral tissues of wheat with and without the Ph1 locus. However, at the time the telomeric bouquet and chromosome synapsis occur in wheat lacking the Ph1 locus, the expression levels may be in decline, resulting in homoeologous recombination.

Pairing Models

Three hypotheses have long dominated the field of cereal chromosome pairing. How do these hypotheses stand in the light of recent data?

As researchers studying pairing in autotetraploid plants were to show, the chromosomes associate in these species as multivalents that later resolve as bivalents by metaphase I. Researchers at Carlsberg performed some of the initial studies using Bombyx (silkworms), and observed the initial multivalent formation and later bivalents. They proposed that a similar mechanism operated in the case of allopolyploids, such as hexaploid (bread) wheat. The initial studies seem to support this proposal (88,93). However, a more detailed analysis by Holm revealed mostly bivalent formation (89). Although Holm concluded that "most chromosomes are at mid zygotene present as partially paired bivalents and only few have engaged in multiple associations," he nevertheless argued that multivalent formation and their resolution were important (89). Thus it is generally perceived in the literature that chromosomes in hexaploid wheat are involved in a searching process at synapsis through associating at a number of sites along their chromosome arms. This hypothesis is, however, problematic. First, most multivalents claimed from analyses of synaptonemal complexes were based on a single site association between two chromosomes that were synapsed as partially paired bivalents with another partner. If there is generalized searching operating, it would be expected that a number of sites would be involved along their chromosome arms visualized as multiple interactions. This is not the case. Moreover, the process of squashing and spreading to analyze the synaptonemal complex structures will result in some chance associations between partially paired bivalents. Clearly, these two types of association need to be differentiated. Autotetraploids of the progenitors of wheat do not exhibit interstitial multivalent associations (as described above) between identical chromosomes (79). Thus, why would multivalent associations at synapsis occur between nonidentical and not between identical chromosomes? Subsequent synapsis studies of an autotetraploid of rye (152) and Triticum monococcum (79) show that one site is engaged in multivalent associations. Recent data indicate that such sites are now likely to be the centromere regions. However, centromere sites are not engaged in multiple associations at meiotic prophase in allopolyploids such as hexaploid wheat. They associate mostly in pairs early in floral development and remain in pairs through meiotic prophase (118). Importantly, a number of spreads of partially synapsing wheat chromosomes show no associations that can be interpreted as multivalent formation (89). If all chromosomes had to go through the multivalent formation as part of synapsis, multivalents would be observed in all spreads. The close polyploid relatives of hexaploid wheat, *Aegilops* and *Avena*, have recently been shown not to exhibit multivalent formation at synapsis but simply bivalent formation (41, 42). Moreover, as stated previously, homoeologous chromosomes are synapsed by lateral elements of similar lengths, which implies that these chromosomes were already committed to pair prior to completion of lateral element formation (78). All data indicate that chromosomes in hexaploid wheat synapse as bivalents, as is in the case for its wild polyploid (*Aegilops*) relatives.

Early studies on Drosophila observed that chromosomes associate in somatic tissues during embryo development (123). Based on these Drosophila observations, Feldman proposed that most plant species associate their chromosomes premeiotically. Because he had observed the presence of univalents, multivalents and interlocking of bivalents in hexaploid wheat with increased doses of the 5BL arm, Feldman argued that the presence of the Ph1 locus on 5B suppresses this premeiotic chromosome pairing "causing random distribution of chromosomes in the premeiotic nucleus." Premeiotic association was concluded to be partially suppressed at two doses of the *Ph1*, which eliminated pairing between homoeologues and led exclusively to homologous pairing at meiosis. The presence of extra Ph1 doses even suppressed homologous chromosome pairing. Feldman and colleagues therefore used squashed preparations to assess whether there was somatic chromosome association in root cells (64, 65). This strategy would provide evidence of somatic association leading up to premeiosis, which then would be disrupted premeiotically by the *Ph1* locus. From the squashed preparations, Feldman and colleagues concluded that there was somatic chromosome association in roots. From further studies using colchicine treatment, they concluded that microtubule interactions with the centromeres were involved in this somatic pairing (12, 13). The cloning of sequences at centromeres now permits the question of whether centromeres associate in roots to be addressed (8). There is no evidence for centromere association in roots nor association of homologues as proposed (87, 118). Furthermore, homologous chromosomes are not randomly organized in the premeiotic nucleus but homologues are associated via their centromeres (117, 118). Therefore, although the principle that association of homologues involved centromeres proved to be correct, current data do not support the experimental evidence on which this proposal was based.

Finally, Watanabe proposed from studies on polyploid Chrysanthemum that obligate bivalent formation in polyploids is achieved by initiating chromosome pairing at two sites (174). He concluded that there would be two sites under independent and fundamentally different genic control and that the pairing of one site always precedes the pairing at the other. These proposals are entirely consistent with chromosome behavior of the *Triticum* and *Aegilops* (10, 117, 118). The analyses described above of autopolyploids and allopolyploids suggest that centromeres and telomeric regions are these two sites.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

In summary, centromeres and telomeres have been important in influencing cereal chromosome evolution and the pairing of cereal chromosomes. The development of new vector systems, particularly cereal artificial chromosomes for the biotech industry, is likely to promote centromere- and telomere-based studies. The better understanding of the structure of this regions and the proteins that interact with them will, in turn, help chromosome-pairing studies. The future characterization of the *Ph1* locus itself may well identify some of the key proteins/factors that interact at these sites.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author wishes to thank Tracie Foote, Simon Griffiths, and Enrique Martinez-Perez for help in preparing this manuscript.

Visit the Annual Reviews home page at www.AnnualReviews.org

LITERATURE CITED

- Abranches R, Beven AF, Aragon-Alcaide L, Shaw PJ. 1998. Transcription sites are not correlated with chromosome domains in wheat nuclei. *J. Cell. Biol.* 143:5–12
- Ahn S, Anderson JA, Sorrells ME, Tanksley SD. 1993. Homoeologous relationships of rice, wheat, and maize chromosomes. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 241:483–90
- Ahn S, Tanksley SD. 1993. Comparative linkage maps of the rice and maize genomes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90:7980–84
- 4. Alfenito MR, Birchler JA. 1993. Molecular characterisation of a maize B chromosome centric sequence. *Genetics* 135:589–97
- Ananiev EV, Phillips RL, Rines HW. 1998. Chromosome-specific molecular organisation of maize (*Zea mays* L) centromeric regions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95:13073– 78

- Ananiev EV, Phillips R, Rines HW. 1998. Complex structure of knob DNA on maize chromosome 9. Retrotransposon invasion into heterochromatin. *Genetics* 149:2025– 37
- Aragon-Alcaide L, Bevan A, Moore G, Shaw P. 1997. The use of a vibratome sections of whole cereal sections to study anther development and meiosis. *Plant J.* 14:503– 8
- Aragon-Alcaide L, Miller TE, Schwarzacher T, Reader SM, Moore G. 1996. A cereal centomeric sequence. *Chromosoma* 105:261–68
- Aragon-Alcaide L, Reader SM, Miller TE, Moore G. 1997. Centromere behaviour in wheat with high and low homoeologous chromosome pairing. *Chromosoma* 5:327– 33

- Aragon-Alcaide L, Reader SM, Shaw PJ, Beven AF, Miller TE, Moore G. 1997. Association of homologous chromosomes during floral development. *Curr. Biol.* 7:905–8
- Ashikawa I, Kurata N, Naguramura Y, Minobe Y. 1994. Cloning and mapping of telomeric-associated sequences from rice. *DNA Res.* 1:67–76
- Avivi L, Feldman M, Bushuk W. 1969. The mechanism of somatic association in common wheat. *Triticum aestivum* (L). The suppression of somatic association by colchicine. *Genetics* 62:745–52
- Avivi L, Feldman M, Bushuk W. 1970. The mechanism of somatic association in common wheat, *Triticum aestivum* (L). Differential affinity for colchicine of spindle microtubules of plants having different doses of somatic-association suppressor. *Genetics* 65:585–92
- Bakar MA, Kimber G. 1982. Chromosome pairing regulators in the former genus Aegilops. Z. Pflanzenzuecht. 89:130–38
- Balcell C, Swinburne J, Coupland G. 1991. Transposons as tools for the isolation of plant genes. *Trends Biotechnol.* 9:31–36
- Bass HW, Marshall WF, Sedat JW, Agard DA, Cande WZ. 1997. Telomeres cluster *de novo* before the initiation of synapsis: a three-dimensional spatial analysis of telomere positions before and during meiotic prophase. *J. Cell Biol.* 137:5–18
- Bayliss MW, Riley R. 1972. Evidence of pre-meiotic control of chromosome pairing in *Triticum aestivum*. *Genet. Res.* 20:205– 12
- Bedbrook JR, Jones J, O'Dell M, Thompson RD, Flavell RB. 1980. A molecular description of telomeric heterochromatin in *Secale* species. *Cell* 19:545–60
- Bennett MD, Dover GA, Riley R. 1974. Meiotic duration in wheat genotypes with and without homoeologous meiotic chromosomes. *Proc. R. Soc. London Ser. B* 187:191–207
- 20. Bennett MD, Smith JB. 1972. The effect of

polyploidy on meiotic duration and pollen development in cereal anthers. *Proc. R. Soc. London Ser. B* 181:81–107

- Bennett MD, Smith JB. 1991. Nuclear DNA amounts in angiosperms. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London Ser. B* 334:309–45
- Bennetzen JL, Freeling M. 1993. Grasses as a single genetic system: genomic composition, collinearity and compatibility. *Trends Genet.* 9:259–61
- Bennetzen JL, Kellogg EA. 1997. Do plants have a one-way ticket to genomic obesity? *Plant Cell* 9:1509–14
- Bennetzen JL, San-Miguel P, Liu C-N, Chen M, Tikhonov A, et al. 1995. Microcollinearity and segmental duplication in the evolution of grass nuclear genomes. In *Unifying Plant Genomes*, ed. JS Heslop-Harrison, 50:1–3. Cambridge: Co. Biol.
- Bennetzen JL, Schnick K, Springer PS, Brown WE, San-Miguel P. 1994. Active maize genes are unmodified and flanked by diverse classes of modified highly repetitive DNA. *Genome* 37:565–76
- Bird AP. 1987. CpG islands as markers in the vertebrate nucleus. *Trends Genet*. 3:342–47
- Bowan JG, Rajhathy T. 1977. Fusion of chromocenters in premeiotic interphase of *Secale cereale* and its possible relationship to chromosome pairing. *Can. J. Genet. Cytol.* 19:313–21
- Brink RA, Cooper DC. 1932. Chromosome rings in maize and Oenothera. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 18:447–55
- Brown WRA. 1988. A physical map of the human pseudoautosomal region. *EMBO J*. 7:2377–85
- Bureau TE. Wessler SR. 1992. Tourist a large family of small inverted repeat elements frequently associated with maize genes. *Plant Cell* 4:1283–94
- Bureau TE, Wessler SR. 1994. Mobile inverted-repeat elements of the tourist family are associated with the genes of many cereal grasses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91:1411–15

- Burr B, Burr FA, Matz EC. 1993. Maize molecular map (*Zea mays*) 2N = 20. In *Genetic Maps*, ed. SJ O'Brien, pp. 190–203. Cold Spring Harbor: Cold Spring Harbor Lab. Press
- Burr B, Burr FA, Thompson K, Albertson MC, Stuber CW. 1988. Gene mapping with recombinant inbreeds in maize. *Genetics* 118:519–26
- Causse M, Fulton TM, Cho YG, Ahn SN, Wu K, et al. 1994. Saturated molecular map of the rice genome based on an interspecific backcross population. *Genetics* 138:1251– 74
- 35. Chen M, San-Miguel P, De Oliveira AC, Woo S-S, Zhang H, et al. 1997. Microcolinearity in sh2-homologous regions of maize, rice and sorghum genomes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94:3431–35
- Cheung WY, Chao S, Gale MD. 1991. Long range mapping of the α-amylase (α-Amy-l) loci on homoeologous group 6 chromosomes of wheat. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 229:373–79
- 37. Cheung WY, Money TA, Abbo S, Devos KM, Gale MD, Moore G. 1994. A family of related sequences associated with (TTTAGGG)n repeats are located in interstitial regions of the wheat chromosomes. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 245:349–54
- Chittenden LM, Schertz KF, Lin Y-R, Wing RA, Paterson AH. 1994. A detailed RFLP map of Sorghum bicolor × S. propinguum suggests ancestral duplication of the sorghum chromosomes or chromosomal segments. Theor. Appl. Genet. 87:925–33
- Coleman LC. 1941. The relation of chromocenters to the differential segments in *Rheo discolor. Am. J. Bot.* 28:742–48
- Cook PR. 1997. The transcriptional basis of chromosome pairing. J. Cell. Sci. 110:1033–40
- Cunado N, Callejas S, Garcia MJ, Fernandez A, Santos JL. 1996. The pattern of zygotene and pachytene pairing in allotetraploid *Aegilops* species sharing the U genome. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 93:1152–55

- Cunado N, Garcia MJ, Callejas S, Fernandez A, Santos L. 1996. The pattern of zygotene and pachytene pairing in allotetraploid *Aegilops* species sharing the D genome. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 93:1175–79
- Curtis CA, Lukaszewski AJ, Chrzastek M. 1991. Metaphase I pairing of deficient chromosomes and genetic mapping of deficiency breakpoints in common wheat. *Genome* 34:553–60
- Darlington CD. 1929. Cytological theory of inheritance in Oenothera. J. Genet. 24:405–74
- 45. Davis BM. 1943. An amphidiploid in the F1 generation from a cross *Oenothera franciscana* × *Oenothera biennis* and its progeny. *Genetics* 28:275–85
- Dawe RK, Sedat JW, Agard DA, Cande WZ. 1994. Meiotic chromosome pairing in maize is associated with a novel chromatin organisation. *Cell* 76:901–12
- Devos KM, Atkinson MD, Chinoy CN, Harcourt RL, Koebner RMD, et al. 1993. Chromosomal rearrangements in the rye genome relative to that of wheat. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 85:673–80
- Devos KM, Gale MD. 1992. The genetic maps of wheat and their potential in plant breeding. *Outl. Agric.* 22:93–99
- Devos KM, Millan T, Gale MD. 1993. Comparative RFLP maps of homoeologous chromosomes of wheat, rye and barley. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 85:784–92
- Devos KM, Wang ZM, Beales J, Sasaki Y, Gale MD. 1998 Comparative genetic maps of foxtail millet (*Setaria italica*) and rice (*Oryza sativa*). *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 96:63– 68
- Dong FJ, Miller T, Jackson SA, Wang GL, Ronald PC, et al. 1998. Rice (*Oryza* sativa) centromeric consist of complex DNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 95:8135– 40
- Dover GA, Riley R. 1973. The effect of spindle inhibitors applied before meiosis on meiotic chromosome pairing. *J. Cell Sci.* 12:143–61

- Driscoll CJ, Darvey NL. 1970. Chromosome pairing: effect of colchicine on isochromosome. *Science* 169:290–91
- Driscoll CJ, Darvey NL, Barber HN. 1967. Effect of colchicine on meiosis of hexaploid wheat. *Nature* 216:687–88
- 55. Dubcovsky J, Luo MC, Dvorak J. 1995. Differentiation between homoeologous chromosomes 1A of wheat and 1A (M) of *Triticum monococcum* and its recognition by the wheat *Ph1* locus. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92:6645–47
- 56. Dubcovsky J, Luo M-C, Zhong G-Y, Kilian A, Kleinhofs A, Dvorak J. 1996. Genetic map of diploid wheat, *Triticum monococcum* L and its comparison with maps of *Hordeum vulgare* L. *Genetics* 143:983–99
- Dufour P. 1996. Cartographie moléculaire du genome du sorgho (Sorghum bicolor L. Moench): application en sélection variétale: cartographie comparé chez les andropogonées. PhD thesis, Univ. Paris-Sud, France
- Dufour P, Deu M, Grivet L, D'Hont A, Paulet F, et al. 1997. Construction of a composite sorghum genome map and comparison with sugarcane, a related complex polyploid. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 94:409– 18
- 59. Dufour P, Grivet L, D'Hont A, Deu M, Trouche G, et al. 1996. Comparative genetic mapping between duplicated segments on maize chromosomes 3 and 8 and homoeologous regions in sorghum and sugarcane. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 92:1024–30
- 60. Dunford RP, Kurata N, Laurie DA, Money TA, Minobe Y, Moore G. 1995. Conservation of fine-scale DNA marker order in the genome of rice and the Triticeae. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 23:2724–28
- Dvorak J, Dubcovsky J, Luo M-C, Devos KM, Gale MD. 1995. Differentiation between wheat chromosomes 4B and 4D. *Genome* 38:1139–47
- Endo TR, Gill BS. 1996. The deletion stocks of common wheat. J. Hered. 87:295–307

- Feldman M. 1966. The effect of chromosomes 5A, 5D, and 5D on chromosomal pairing in *Triticum aestivum*. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 55:1447–53
- Feldman M, Mello Sampavo T, Sears ER. 1966. Somatic association of *Triticum aestivum. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 56:1447– 53
- 65. Flavell RB. 1986. Repetitive DNA and chromosome evolution in plants. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. London Ser. B* 312:227–42
- Flavell RB, Bennett MD, Hutchinson-Brace J. 1987. Chromosome structure and organisation. In *Wheat*, ed. F Lupton, pp. 211–68. London: Chapman & Hall
- Flavell AJ, Dunbar E, Anderson R, Pearce SR, Hartley R, Kumar A. 1992. Ty1-copia group retrotransposons are ubiquitous and heterogenous in higher plants. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 20:3639–44
- Foote T, Roberts M, Kurata N, Sasaki T, Moore G. 1997. Detailed comparative mapping of cereal chromosome regions corresponding to the Ph1 locus in wheat. *Genetics* 147:801–7
- 69. Gale MD, Atkinson MD, Chinoy CN, Harcourt RL, Jia J, et al. 1998. Genetic maps of the hexaploid wheat. In *Proc. Int. Wheat Genet. Symp.*, 8th, ed. ZS Li, ZY Xin, pp. 29–40. Beijing: China Agric. Scientech Press
- Gale MD, Devos KM. 1998. Comparative genetics in the grasses. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95:1971–74
- Gardiner-Garden M, Frommer M. 1987. CpG islands in vertebrate genomes. *J. Mol. Biol.* 196:261–82
- Gaut BS, Doebley JF. 1997. DNA sequences evidence for the segmental allotetraploid origin of maize. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94:6809–14
- Gerlach WL, Bedbrook JR. 1979. Cloning and characterisation of the ribosomal RNA genes from wheat and barley. *Nucleic Acids Res* 7:1869–85
- 74. Gill KS, Gill BS, Endo TR, Boyko EV. 1996. Identification and high density

mapping of gene-rich regions in chromosome group 5 of wheat. *Genetics* 143:1001–12

- Gillies CB. 1975. An ultrastructural analysis of chromosome pairing in maize. C. R. Trav. Lab. Carlsberg 40:135–61
- 76. Gillies CB. 1983. Ultrastructural studies of the association of homologous and nonhomologous parts of chromosomes in the mid-prophase of meiosis in *Zea mays*. *Maydica* 28:265–87
- Gillies CB. 1985. An electron-microscopic study of synaptonemal complex-formation at zygotene in rye. *Chromosoma* 92:165– 75
- Gillies CB. 1987. The effect of *Ph1* gene alleles on synaptonemal complex formation in *Triticum aestivum* × *T kotschyi hybrids*. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 74:430–38
- Gillies CB, Kuspira J, Bhambhani RN. 1987. Genetic and cytogenetic analyses of the A genome of *Triticum monococcum*. IV. Synaptonemal complex formation in autotetraploids. *Genome* 29:309–18
- Gillies CB, Lukaszewski AJ. 1989. Synaptonemal complex formation in rye (*Secale cereale*) heterozygous for telomeric C bands. *Genome* 32:901–7
- Gomez MI, Islam-Faridi MN, Zwick MS, Czeschin DG, Hart GE, et al. 1998. Tetraploid nature of *Sorghum bicolor* (L) Moench. *J. Hered.* 89:188–90
- Graner A, Jahoor A, Schondelmaier J, Siedler H, Pillen K, et al. 1991. Construction of an RFLP map of barley. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 83:250–56
- Gruenbaum Y, Naveh-Many T, Cedar H, Razin A. 1981. Sequence specificity of methylation in higher plant DNA. *Nature* 292:860–62
- Guimaraes CT, Sills GR, Sobral BW. 1997. Comparative mapping of *Andropogoneae*: *Saccharum* L (sugarcane) and its relation to sorghum and maize. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 94:14261–66
- Han F, Kleinhofs A, Ullrich SE, Kilian A, Yano M, Sasaki T. 1998. Synteny with rice,

analysis of barley malting quality QTLs and *rpg4* chromosome regions. *Genome* 41:373–80

- Helentjaris T. 1995. Atlas of duplicated sequences. *Maize Genet. Coop. Newsl.* 69:67–81
- Heslop-Harrison JS, Smith JB, Bennett MD. 1988. The absence of somatic association of centromeres of homologous chromosomes in grass mitotic metaphases. *Chromosoma* 96:119–31
- Hobolth P. 1981. Chromosome pairing in allohexaploid wheat var. Chinese Spring. Transformation of multivalents into bivalents, a mechanism for exclusively bivalent formation. *Carlsberg Res. Commun.* 46:129–73
- Holm PB. 1986. Chromosome pairing and chiasma formation in allohexaploid wheat. *Triticum aestivum* analysed by spreading of meiotic nuclei. *Carlsberg Res. Commun.* 51:239–94
- Huang HC, Kochert G. 1994. Comparative RFLP mapping of an allotetraploid rice species and cultivated rice. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 25:633–48
- Hutchinson J, Lonsdale DM. 1982. The chromosomal distribution of cloned highly repetitive sequences from hexaploid wheat. *Heredity* 48:371–76
- 92. Jauhar PP, Rieralizarazu O, Dewey WG, Gill BS, Crane CF, Bennett JH. 1991. Chromosome pairing relationships among A genome, B genome and D genome of bread wheat. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 82:441–49
- Jenkins G. 1983. Chromosome pairing in *Triticum aestivum* cv Chinese Spring. *Carlsberg Res. Commun.* 48:255–83
- 94. Jenkins G. 1985. Synaptonemal complex formation in hybrids of *Lolium temulentum × Lolium perenne* (L). *Chromosoma* 92:81–88
- 95. Jiang J, Nasuda S, Dong F, Scherrer CW, Woo SS, et al. 1996. A conserved repetitive DNA element located in the centromeres of cereal chromosomes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 93:14210–13

- Jones M, Rees H, Jenkins G. 1989. Synaptonemal complex formation in *Avena* polyploids. *Heredity* 63:209–19
- 97. Kan YW, Dozy AM. 1978. Polymorphism of DNA sequence adjacent to human β globin structural gene: relationship to sickle mutation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 75:5631–35
- Kellogg EA. 1998. Relationships of cereal crops and other grasses. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA* 95:2005–10
- Kilian A, Kleinhofs A. 1992. Cloning and mapping of telomere-associated sequences in *Hordeum vulgare* L. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 235:153–56
- 100. Kilian A, Chen J, Han F, Steffenson B, Kleinhofs A. 1997. Towards map-based cloning of the barley stem rust resistance genes *Rpg1* and *rpg4* using rice as an intergenomic cloning vehicle. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 35:187–95
- Kilian A, Kudna D, Kleinhofs A. 1999. Genetic and molecular characterisation of barley chromosome telomeres. *Genome* 42:412–19
- 102. Kilian A, Kudna DA, Kleinhofs A, Yano M, Kurata N, et al. 1995. Rice-barley synteny and its application to saturation mapping of the barley *Rpg1* region. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 23:2729–33
- 103. Kleinhofs A, Kilian A, Saghai-Maroof MA, Biyashev RM, Hayes P, et al. 1993. A molecular isozyme and morphological map of barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) genome. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 86:705–12
- 104. Kurata N, Moore G, Nagamura Y, Foote T, Yano M, et al. 1994 Conservation of genome structure between rice and wheat. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 12:276–78
- 105. Kurata N, Nagamura Y, Yamamoto K, Harushima Y, Sue N, et al. 1994. A 300 kilobase interval genetic map of rice including 883 expressed sequences. *Nat. Genet.* 8:365–75
- 106. Laurie DA, Pratchett N, Devos KM, Leitch IJ, Gale MD. 1993. Nonhomoeologous translocations between

group 4, 5 and 7 chromosomes in wheat and rye. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 83:305–12

- 107. Lebo RG, Carrano AV, Burkhart-Schultz K, Dozy AM, L-C Yu, Kan YW. 1979. Assignment of human α , β and δ globin genes to the short arm of chromosome 11 by chromosome sorting and DNA restriction enzyme. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 76:5804–8
- Leeton PRJ, Smyth DR. 1993 An abundant LINE-like element amplified in the genome of *Lilium speciosum*. Mol. Gen. Genet. 237:97–104
- 109. Leister D, Kurth J, Laurie DA, Yano M, Sasaki T, et al. 1997. Rapid reorganisation of resistance gene homologues in cereal genomes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95:370–75
- Lilienfield FA. 1951. H Kihara: genome analysis in *Triticum* and *Aegilops* X. Concluding review. *Cytologia* 16:101–23
- Linde-Lauren I. 1982. Linkage map of the long arm of barley chromosome 3 using C-bands and markers genes. *Heredity* 49:27–35
- 112. Liu CJ, Devos KM, Chinoy CN, Atkinson MD, Gale MD. 1992. Non-homoeologous translocations between 4, 5 and 7 chromosomes in wheat and rye. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 83:305–12
- Lukaszweski AJ. 1997. The development and meiotic behaviour of asymmetrical isochromosomes in wheat. *Genetics* 145:1155–60
- 114. Luo MC, Dubcovsky J, Dvorak J. 1996. Recognition of homeology by wheat *Ph1* locus. *Genetics* 144:1195–203
- 115. Maestra B, Naranjo T. 1999. Homoeologous relationships of *Aegilops speltoides* chromosomes to bread wheat. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 17:181–86
- Malheiros-Gards N, Garde A. 1950. Fragmentation as a possible evolutionary process in the genus *Luzula* DC. *Genet. Iberica* 2:257–62
- 117. Martinez-Perez E, Shaw P, Moore G. 1999. Homologous chromosome pairing

in wheat: chromosome pairing in wheat, and centromere behaviour in its diploid and polyploid relatives. *Int. Bot. Congr.*, 9th. St Louis, MO

- Martinez-Perez E, Shaw P, Reader S, Aragon-Alcaide, Miller T, Moore G. 1999. Homologous chromosome pairing in wheat. J. Cell Sci. 112:1761–69
- 119. McClintock B. 1930. A cytological demonstration of the location of an interchange between two non-homologous chromosomes in *Zea mays. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 16:791–96
- 120. McCouch SR, Chen X, Panaud O, Temnykh S, Xu Y, et al. 1997. Microsatellite marker development, mapping and applications in rice genetics and breeding. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 35:89–99
- 121. Meinke DW, Cherry JM, Dean C, Rounsley SD, Koornneef M. 1998. Arabidopsis thaliana: a model plant for genome analysis. Science 282:662–67
- 122. Melake Berhan A, Hulbert SH, Bulter LG, Bennetzen JL. 1993. Structure and evolution of the genomes of *Sorghum bicolor* and *Zea mays. Theor. Appl. Genet.* 86:598–604
- 123. Metz CW. 1916. Chromosome studies on the *Diptera* II. The paired association of chromosomes in the *Diptera* and its significance. J. Exp. Zool. 21:213–79
- 124. Miller JT, Dong F, Jackson SA, Song J, Jiang J. 1998. Retrotransposon-related DNA sequences in the centromeres of grass chromosomes. *Genetics* 150:1615– 23
- 125. Ming R, Liu SC, Lin YR, daSilva J, Wilson W, et al. 1998. Detailed alignment of saccharum and sorghum chromosomes: comparative organisation of closely related diploid and polyploid genomes. *Genetics* 150:1663–82
- 126. Montefalcone G, Tempesta S, Rocchi M, Archidiacono N. 1999. Jumping centromeres: an additional oddness. *Eur. Cytogenet. Conf.* 2nd, Vienna, Aust.
- 127. Moore G. 1995. Cereal genome evolu-

tion: pastoral pursuits with lego genomes. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 5:717–24

- 128. Moore G, Abbo S, Cheung W, Foote T, Gale M, et al., 1993. Key features of Cereal Genome Organisation as revealed by the use of cytosine methylation-sensitive restriction endonucleases. *Genomics* 15:472–82
- 129. Moore G, Cheung W, Schwaracher T, Flavell R. 1991. BIS1, a major component of the cereal genome and a tool for studying genomic organisation. *Genomics* 10:469–76
- Moore G, Devos KM, Wang Z, Gale MD. 1995. Cereal Genome Evolution, Grasses, line up and form a circle. *Curr. Biol.* 5:737–739
- 131. Moore G, Foote T, Helentjaris T, Devos K, Kurata N, Gale M. 1995. Was there a single ancestral cereal chromosome? *Trends Genet*. 11:81–82
- Moore G, Gale MD, Kurata N, Flavell RB. 1993. Molecular characterisation of small grain cereal genomes: current status and prospects. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 11:584– 89
- 133. Moore G, Roberts M, Aragon-Alcaide L, Foote T. 1997. Centromeric sites and cereal chromosome evolution. *Chromo-soma* 35:17–23
- 134. Namuth DM, Lapitan NLV, Gill KS, Gill BS. 1994. Comparative RFLP maps of *Hordeum vulgare* and *Triticum tauschii*. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 89:865–72
- Naranjo T. 1995. Chromosome structure of *Triticum longissimum* relative to wheat. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 91:105–109
- 136. Naranjo T, Roca A, Goicoechea PG, Giraldez R. 1988. Chromosome structure of common wheat. Genome reassignment of chromosomes 4A and 4B. *Proc. Int. Wheat Genet. Symp.*, 7th, Cambridge 1:115–20
- Noma K, Obtsubo E, Ohtsubo H. 1999. Non-LTR retrotransposon (LINEs) are ubiquitous components of plant genomes. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 261:71–79

- Nonomura K-I, Kurata N. 1999. Organisation of the 1.9 Kb repeat unit RCE1 in the centromeric region of rice chromosomes. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 261:1–10
- Nordenskiold H. 1961. Tetrad analysis and course of meiosis in three hybrids of *Luzula campestris*. *Hereditas* 47:203– 38
- Okamoto M. 1957. A synaptic effect on chromosome V. Wheat Inf. Serv. 5:6–7
- 141. Panstruga R, Buschges R, Piffanelli P, Schulze-Lefert P. 1998. A contiguous 60 Kb genomic stretch from barley reveals molecular evidence for gene islands in a monocot genome. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 26:1056–62
- 142. Peacock WJ, Dennis ES, Rhoads MM, Pryov AJ. 1981. Highly repeated DNA sequences limited to knob heterochromatin in maize. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 78:4490–94
- 143. Periera MG, Lee M, Bramel-Cox P, Woodman N, Doebley J, Whitkus R. 1993. Construction of an RFLP map in sorghum and comparative mapping in maize. *Genome* 37:236–43
- 144. Presting GG, Malysheva L, Fuchs J, Schubert I. 1998. A TY3/GYPSY retrotransposon-like sequence localises to the centromeric regions of cereal chromosomes. *Plant J*. 16:721–28
- 144a. Rabl C. 1885. Veber Zelltheilung. Morphol. Jahrb. 10:214–330
- 145. Ramsey L, Macaulay M, Cardle L, Morgante M, Invaissevich SD, et al. 1999. Intimate association of microsatellite repeats with retrotransposons and other dispersed repetitive elements in barley. *Plant J.* 17:415–25
- Riley R, Chapman V. 1958. Genetic control of the cytological diploid behaviour of hexaploid wheat. *Nature* 182:712–15
- 147. Roder MS, Lapitan NLV, Sorrells ME, Tanksley SD. 1993. Genetic and physical mapping of barley telomeres. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 238:294–303
- 148. Russell GJ, Follet EAC, Subak-Sharpe

JH, Harrison BD. 1971. The double strand DNA of cauliflower mosaic virus. *J. Gen. Virol.* 11:129–38

- 149. Saghai Maroof MA, Yang GP, Biyashev RM, Maughan PJ, Zhang Q. 1996. Analysis of barley and rice genomes by comparative RFLP linkage mapping. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 92:541–51
- San-Miguel P, Gaut BS, Tikhonov A, Nakajima Y, Bennetzen JL. 1998. The paleontology of intergene retrotransposons of maize. *Nat. Genet.* 20:43–45
- 151. San-Miguel P, Tikhonov A, Jin Y-K, Melake-Berham A, Springer PS, et al. 1996. Nested retrotransposons in the intergenic regions of the maize genome. *Science* 274:765–68
- 152. Santos JL, Cuadrado, Diez M, Romera C, Cunado N, et al. 1995. Further insights on chromosomal pairing of autopolyploids a triploid and tetraploids of rye. *Chromosoma* 104:298–307
- 153. Schwartz-Sommer Z, Leclercq L, Gobel E, Saedler H. 1987. *Cin4*, an insert altering the structure of the A1 gene in *Zea mays*, exhibits properties of nonviral retrotransposons. *EMBO J*. 6:3873–80
- 154. Schwarzacher T, Heslop-Harrison JS. 1991. *In situ* hybridisation to telomeres using synthetic oligomers. *Genome* 34:317–23
- 155. Sears ER. 1977. An induced mutant with homoeologous pairing in common wheat. *Can. J. Genet. Cytogenet.* 19:585–93
- 156. Singh K, Ishii T, Parco A, Huang N, Brar D, Khush GS. 1996. Centromere mapping and orientations of the molecular linkage map of rice (*Oryza sativa* L). *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 93:6163–68
- 157. Snape JW, Flavell RB, O'Dell M, Hughes WG, Payne PI. 1985. Intrachromosomal mapping of nucleolar organiser region relative to three marker loci on chromosome 1B of wheat (*Triticum aestivum*). *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 69:263–70
- 158. Solomon E, Bodmer W. 1979. Evolution of sickle variant genes. *Lancet* 1:923

- Springer PS, Edwards KJ, Bennetzen JL. 1994. DNA class organisation on maize Adh1 yeast artificial chromosomes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 91:863–67
- 160. Suoniemi A, Anamthuwat-Jonsson K, Arna T, Schulman AH. 1996. The retrotransposon BARE1 is a major dispersed component of the barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) genome. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 30:1321– 29
- 161. Suoniemi A, Narvanto A, Schulman AH. 1996. The BARE1 retrotransposon is transcribed in barley from an LTR promoter active in transient assays. *Plant Mol. Biol.* 31:295–306
- 162. Suoniemi A, Tanskanen J, Schulman AH. 1998. Gypsy-like retrotransposon are widespread in the plant kingdom. *Plant J*. 13:699–705
- Swartz MN, Trauter TA, Kornberg A. 1962. Enzymatic synthesis of deoxyribonucleic acid. J. Biol. Chem. 237:1961– 67
- 164. Thomas JB, Kaltsikes PJ. 1976. A bouquet-like attachment plate for telomeres in leptotene of rye revealed by heterochromatin staining. *Heredity* 36:155–62
- 165. Timopheyeva LP, Kolomiyets OL, Vorontsova NI, Bogdanov YF. 1988. An electron microscope study of the synaptonemal complex in common wheat. Initiation of synapsis. *Tsitologiva* 30:390–94
- 166. Van Deynze AE, Dubcovsky J, Gill KS, Nelson JC, Sorrells ME, et al. 1995. Molecular-genetic maps for group 1 chromosomes of Triticeae species and their relation to chromosomes in rice and oat. *Genome* 38:45–59
- 167. Van Deynze AE, Nelson JC, Yglesias ES, Harrington SE, Braga DP, et al. 1995. Comparative mapping in grasses: wheat relationships. *Mol. Gen. Genet.* 248:744– 54
- 168. Van Deynze AE, Nelson JC, O'Donoughue LS, Ahn SN, Siripoonwiwat W, et al. 1996. Comparative mapping

in grass:oats relationships. Mol. Gen. Genet. 249:349–56

- 169. Vega JM, Feldman M. 1998. Effect of the paring gene Ph1 and premeiotic colchicine treatment on intra and interchromosomal pairing of isochromosomes in common wheat. *Genetics* 150:1199–208
- 170. Vershinin AV, Schwarzacher T, Heslop-Harrison JS. 1995. The large scale genome organisation of repetitive DNA families at the telomeres of chromosomes of rye chromosomes. *Plant Cell* 7:1823–33
- 171. Vershinin A, Svitashev S, Gummenson P-O, Salomon B, von Bothmer R, Bryngellsson T. 1994. Characterisation of a family of tandemly repeated DNA sequences in the Triticeae. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 89:217–25
- Walters MS. 1970. Evidence on the time of chromosome pairing from the preleptotene spiral stage in *Lilium longiflorum* "Croft". *Chromosoma* 29:375–418
- Walters MS. 1972. Preleptotene chromosome contraction in *Lilium longiflorum* "Croft". *Chromosoma* 39:311–32
- 174. Wang, Z, Weber JL, Zhong G, Tanksley SD. 1994. Survey of plant short tandem DNA repeats. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 88:1– 6
- Watanabe K. 1983 Studies on control of diploid-like meiosis in polyploid taxa of *Chrysanthemum. Theor. Appl. Genet.* 66:9–14
- 176. Werner JE, Kota RS, Gill BS, Endo TR. 1992. Distribution of telomeric repeats and their role in healing of broken chromosome ends in wheat. *Genetics* 35:844–48
- 177. Wessler SR, Bureau TE, White SE. 1995. LTR-retrotransposons and MITESimportant players in the evolution of plant genomes. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* 5:814–21
- 177a. Westergaard M, Von Wettstein D. 1972. The synaptonemal complex. *Annu. Rev. Genetics* 6:71–110

- 178. Whitkus R, Doebley J, Lee M. 1992. Comparative genome mapping of sorghum and maize. *Genetics* 132:1119–30
- 179. Wilson WA, Harrington SE, Woodman WL, Lee M, Sorrells ME, McCouch SR. 1999. Can we infer the genome structure of progenitor maize through comparative analysis of rice, maize and the domesticated panicoids? *Genetics.* 153:453–73
- Wolf KH, Gouy M, Yang Y-W, Sharp PM, Li WH. 1989. Date of the monocotdicot divergence estimated from chloro-

plast DNA sequence data. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 86:6201–5

- Yen Y, Kimber G. 1990. Meiotic behaviour of induced autotetraploids in Triticum. *Genome* 33:302–7
- Zakian VA. 1989. Structure and fusion of telomeres. Annu. Rev. Genet. 23:579–604
- 183. Zhang H, Jia J, Gale MD, Devos KM. 1998. Relationship between the chromosomes of *Aegilops umbellulata* and wheat. *Theor. Appl. Genet.* 96:69–75